1986

Lisa Marakis v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether an injured party's valid claim under the "hit-and-run" clause of Utah's uninsured motorist statute is barred unless there is actual contact between the vehicle occupied by the injured party and an unidentified vehicle which proximately causes the injury?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 4, 1982 an accident occurred involving a motor vehicle insured by State Farm Fire and Casualty Company ("State Farm") and a "hit-and-run" motor vehicle. At the time the accident occurred the Appellant, Lisa Marakis ("Marakis"), was a resident of Carbon County, Utah. The Respondent, State Farm, was at the time of the accident and is at present a foreign corporation registered to do business in the state of Utah. State Farm has been licensed by the State of Utah to issue policies of insurance for motor vehicles pursuant to Utah law.

Prior to the accident, on or about March 25, 1982, State Farm issued a policy of insurance to Marakis' grandparents, Harold J. and Mary Fowler. (Record, Affidavit, Mary Fowler) That policy, No. S06 3676-C25-44, covered a 1976 Datsun--identification number HLS30288408. The Fowler's policy covered bodily injury to any of their relatives occupying the Datsun provided that the injuries arose out of the operation of the vehicle. Pursuant to statutory mandate the policy also provided for recovery in the event of a "hit-and-run" accident.

Utah's uninsured motorist statute does not define the term

"hit-and-run". However, State Farm's insurance policy includes the following in its definition of "uninsured motorist:"

2. a "hit-and-run" land motor vehicle whose owner or driver remains unknown and which strikes:

- a. the insured or
- b. the vehicle the insured is occupying
and causes bodily injury to the insured.

Section III--Uninsured Motor Vehicle--Coverage U

On the fourth day of September in 1982 Marakis was driving home from work in the Fowler's Datsun. As she approached a bend in the road which curved sharply around a mountain she encountered an older model, light colored, automobile which, in attempting to negotiate the curve, crossed over to the wrong side of the road and came directly toward Marakis, traveling in her lane. To avoid the impending head-on collision Marakis was forced to hug the far right side of her lane--precariously close to the soft shoulder. As a result she began to lose control of the vehicle in the soft dirt. Marakis alertly turned to left and accelerated slightly to regain control of the vehicle. Unexpectedly, her Datsun shot across to the left side of the road and ran into a fence. The other vehicle continued on without stopping.

Marakis suffered bodily injury as a result of the negligent operation of the unidentified vehicle and the Datsun she was driving was also damaged. As a result of the impact Marakis' collar bone was broken and she suffered multiple lacerations. Consequently, it was quite some time before she was physically able to free the vehicle from its impacted position. Once the damaged vehicle was extricated,

however, Marakis immediately made her way to a phone booth and reported the "hit-and-run" accident to the Utah Highway Patrol.

Marakis made a claim against State Farm for her special and general damages on July 26, 1984, pursuant to the terms of the insurance contract. State Farm refused to pay the damages claiming that Marakis' vehicle had failed to make contact with the unidentified vehicle. According to State Farm, the absence of physical contact between the insured vehicle and the unknown vehicle precluded any claim under the insurance contract.

Marakis filed a complaint against State Farm on October 16, 1984 in the Seventh Judicial District Court of Carbon County. Two months later State Farm answered that complaint. Marakis subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment based upon her own affidavit and that of her grandmother, Mary Fowler. Four notices of this motion, as well as a copy of the motion itself, were sent to State Farm's attorney. No objection or opposition to the motion was filed.

The Court entered a ruling in favor of Marakis declaring the physical contact provision of State Farm's insurance provision "void and unenforceable and against public policy." (Record, Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment, April 30, 1985 p.1) The court entered a judgment granting Summary Judgment in favor of Marakis on May 14, 1985. Pursuant to that judgment the plaintiff requested a hearing on damages.

After notices of the hearing were issued, State Farm responded on June 1, 1985 by filing a Rule 60(b) Motion for Relief from Judgment. A motion opposing such relief was promptly filed by Marakis. State Farm claimed that due to an unspecified and undocumented clerical

error and the preoccupation of its attorneys with other cases, the four notices, as well as the standard correspondances from the court and the plaintiff, went unnoticed.

Surprisingly, the court granted State Farm's motion. State Farm then filed its own motion for Summary Judgment premised upon its policy provision limiting recovery for "hit-and-run" accidents to those instances in which there is physical contact between the insured's vehicle and the vehicle operated by an unknown "hit-and-run" motorist.

In a questionable exercise of discretion the court entirely reversed its position. The Summary Judgment granted in behalf of Marakis was vacated and Summary Judgment was entered for State Farm. The court held that "the unidentified vehicle is not a 'hit-and-run' motor vehicle within the meaning of that term as used in Section 41-12-21.1, Utah Code Annotated, or within the generally accepted meaning of the term." (Record, Judgment of July 17, 1985 p.3).

NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant brings this action before the Supreme Court of Utah on Appeal from a Summary Judgment entered by the Seventh Judicial District Court of Carbon County. The Appellant opposes the District Court's ruling on the physical contact requirement for "hit-and-run" accidents claiming it to be an error of law.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is a lack of consensus among state courts concerning the physical contact requirement in "hit-and-run" cases. This lack of unanimity is due primarily to the fact that the courts are interpreting different statutes. Of those states with statutes which mirror Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute the majority have rejected the physical contact requirement as contrary to the purpose of the statute. In other states, judicial decisions upholding the physical contact requirement on the basis of policies established prior to the enactment of uninsured motorist legislation are being rejected by an increasing number of courts. This emerging majority of courts choose to examine the origin and underlying purpose of uninsured motorist legislation rather than the anachronistic policies of prior statutes to guide their statutory interpretation.

Uninsured Motorist Statutes were enacted to close "gaps" in the coverage offered by insurance companies--namely the optional nature of such coverage and the contractual requirement of vehicular contact as a requisite to recovery. The prime concern of such legislation is compensation for injuries inflicted by one from whom damages cannot be recovered. State Farm's contractual requirement of physical contact reopens a gap intended to be closed by the uninsured motorist legislation and contravenes the compensatory purpose of the statute.

The term "hit-and-run" does not imply physical contact. Many courts uphold the physical contact requirement on the premise that "hit-and-run" is a synonym for physical contact. Such an interpretation ignores the contemporary usage of the term and has been rejected by a majority of the state courts.

State Farm's own insurance contract uses "hit-and-run" as a broad

term which includes both contact and noncontact accidents and accidents where the negligent motorist is known or unknown. However, the language in State Farm's contract limits coverage to those motor vehicle accidents where there is physical contact and the negligent drivers identity is unknown. If "hit-and-run" did not have such a broad meaning, the limiting language, which is to be construed strictly against the drafter, would be superfluous.

The sole justification for the vehicular contact requirement is that it provides evidence of the collision and thereby deters fraudulent claims. However, the potential cost of such evidence coupled with the probability that a collision could be fabricated and used to perpetrate a fraud renders such evidence of dubious merit. Removing the requirement of physical contact does not remove the Plaintiff's burden of proof. There are other more effective means by which the plaintiff may substantiate her claim. The plaintiff should be allowed to carry the burden of proving the authenticity of her claim using competent evidence without her claim being barred by her failure to collide with the "hit-and-run" vehicle.

Utah's criminal "hit-and-run" statute does not require physical contact as the standard for determining when one must stop and give assistance. It would be inconsistent to read such a requirement into the "hit-and-run" clause of the uninsured motorist statute.

The purpose of the uninsured motorist statute is to require insurance carriers to provide coverage for victims who are entitled to, but cannot otherwise, collect damages. Contractually requiring physical contact as a condition precedent to recovery creates an arbitrary barrier to the assertion of valid claims. Any effort to do

so is therefore void.

ARGUMENT

There is no question that an insurance company is liable when an insured motorist is injured in a vehicular collision with a negligent uninsured motorist who is liable for the damage. Each of the 50 States statutorily require that insurance carriers include uninsured motorist coverage in their automobile liability insurance policies. However, state legislatures have been less uniform in assigning liability where the legal cause of a noncontact accident is an unidentified motorist who has fled the scene. Consequently, there has been a lack of consensus among the courts of various states as to whether vehicular contact is a requisite to recovery.

While some courts have required actual physical contact between the vehicle of the insured and the "hit-and-run" vehicle as a means of avoiding fraudulent claims, others have negated the physical contact requirement on the grounds that it contravenes the compensatory purpose of the statute. The latter assert that the evidentiary function of the contact requirement is better served by other means. To understand these polar legal positions it is necessary to go beneath the surface of the judicial decisions and examine their legislative roots.

I. The Lack of Consensus Among State Courts on the Physical Contact Requirement is Attributable to the Difference in Statutes Being Interpreted. The Differences Between These Statutes Must be Considered in Interpreting Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute.

The State Court's lack of unanimity on the "hit-and-run" contact requirement stems from differences in the statutes being interpreted.

The legislative prescription has not been uniform and several different types of Uninsured Motorist Statutes have emerged. Statutory definitions of "hit-and-run" and "uninsured motorist" differ from state to state and this difference in statutory language has resulted in conflicting decisions by the courts of different states regarding the contact requirement.

In Type One statutes, the term "hit-and-run" is included along with the term "uninsured motorist" but is not defined. Thirteen states, including Utah, fall within this category.¹ Type Two statutes include the term "uninsured motorist" but exclude the term "hit-and-run." Sixteen states have adopted this statutory language.²

The type of statute adopted by the third group explicitly defines the physical contact requirement. Three states in this group explicitly renounce any requirement of physical contact³ while the remaining twelve states presently require physical contact as a condition precedent to recovery.⁴ The fourth, and most progressive, category consists of four states which allow the physical contact requirement to be waived if competent evidence exists to corroborate the claimant's account of the accident.⁵ The uninsured motorist statutes of the two remaining states are unique and not readily classifiable⁶ however, it is important to note that both of these states have rejected the requirement of physical contact as a requisite to recovery under the Uninsured Motorist Statute.

The judicial decisions of jurisdictions with Type One and Type Two statutes are relevant to the case at bar.

Of the thirteen jurisdictions with Type One Statutes (statutes like Utah's which employ but do not define the term "hit-and-run")

nine have ruled on the physical contact requirement. Of those nine, six have invalidated the requirement⁷ while only three have failed to reject it.⁸ Due to the clarity of the statutory language there has been greater harmony among the judicial decisions rendered in states with Type One statutes than among the decisions of courts interpreting other statutes.

The legislative inclusion of the term "hit-and-run" together with the exclusion of any requirement of physical contact gives the court interpretive guidance in that it manifests a deliberate attempt to close all of the "gaps" in uninsured motorist coverage. Those courts which have rejected the vehicular contact requirement have done so on the basis of a carefully reasoned review of the underlying purpose of the legislation. Conversely, those courts in jurisdictions with Type One statutes which have upheld the physical contact requirement have done so on the basis of shallow analysis or careless logic.⁹

Fourteen of the sixteen states with Type Two statutes have ruled on the physical contact requirement. The resulting case law represents an even split in authority--seven choosing to reject the contact requirement¹⁰ with seven clinging to the anachronistic policies of earlier statutes.¹¹ While the courts in Type Two jurisdictions which have rejected the vehicular contact requirement have looked carefully at the statute's origin and the legislative intent to resolve the question of liability, those not rejecting it have rested their decisions on a logical framework supported by three presumptions. First, that there is no legislative intent supporting another construction. Second, that the result of such an interpretation does not lead to an absurd result. And third, that

without definite information as to the unknown motorist's insurance status he is presumed to be insured. See Balestrieri v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Insurance Company, 112 Ariz. 160, 540 P.2d 126 (Ariz. 1975). (These presumptions were refuted by the dissent in Anderson v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 133 Ariz. 464, 652 P.2d 537 (Ariz. 1982)).¹²

This logical framework does not withstand close scrutiny. First, as is discussed below, the legislative intent undergirding the Uninsured Motorist Statute supports an opposite construction than that advocated by proponents of the contact requirement.

Second, such an interpretation does lead to an absurd result. In the instant case, had the vehicle fled the scene after colliding with Marakis' vehicle, Marakis could recover. However, Marakis' efforts to avoid contact with the vehicle would bar recovery in spite of competent evidence to substantiate her claim. This interpretation forces a driver to risk injury via collision to insure recovery. Such an interpretation is absurd.

Finally, a presumption that a driver who leaves the scene of an accident is insured defies common sense. An insured motorist would be more likely to stop and identify himself than would an uninsured motorist. If a motorist does not stop and identify himself after an accident the most logical presumption, absent evidence to the contrary, is that the motorist is not insured.

In the Motion for Summary Judgment granted by the court below, the Respondent offered a lengthy list of decisions by state courts which had upheld the vehicular contact requirement. However, the Respondent did not point out to the court that many of those cases

involved statutes explicitly requiring contact between the vehicle of an uninsured motorist and that of a "hit-and-run" motorist as a condition precedent to recovery. Nor did the respondent acknowledge that the majority of state courts interpreting statutes like Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute (Type One statutes) had soundly rejected the contact requirement as contrary to the purpose of the statute. Indeed, an emerging majority of courts, after reviewing the origins of the Uninsured Motorist Legislation have rejected the requirement of vehicular contact.

II. State Farm's Contractual Requirement of Physical Contact Contravenes the Policy Which Undergirds Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute.

A. The Origin and Purpose of Uninsured Motorist Legislation

The origin of uninsured motorist legislation is not complex. The rapid increase in the number of automobiles in America following the end of World War II resulted in a dramatic increase in the incidence of automobile accidents. "The inadequacy of the then-existing state laws, which had attempted to eliminate the problem either by encouraging or in some states by requiring motorists to secure insurance, became very apparent." A. Widiss, Uninsured and Underinsured Motorist Insurance, 3 (2d ed. 1985)[hereinafter cited as Widiss]. As legislatures attempted to resolve the inherent difficulties of the existing statutes a debate arose as to whether control over driving privileges or compensation of victims was the proper course to pursue. Widiss at 6-7.

Initially, the new generation of statutes focused upon inducing motorists to obtain insurance and revoking the driving privileges of financially irresponsible tortfeasors. Murphy and Netherton, Public

Responsibility and the Uninsured Motorist, 47 Georgetown L.J. 700 (1959). While the debates in the public sector continued, a more innovative private sector turned this newly created entrepreneurial opportunity to their advantage. In State Farm Fire and Casualty Company v. Lambert, 285 So.2d 917 (Ala. 1973), the Supreme Court of Alabama explained;

A progressive and an imaginative insurance industry moved into this gap and provided, as optional coverage, uninsured motorist protection. The responsible motorist was now able for a nominally increased premium to cover not only his liability to others but protect himself from the loss due to personal injury incurred through the fault of the financially irresponsible. These irresponsible motorists fall basically into two categories--the known driver and the unknown driver (hit-and-run).

While the gap was narrowed, it was not fully bridged. Two deficiencies yet remained: (1) the uninsured motorist coverage was purely contractual and thus wholly optional, and (2) by the terms of the policy the insured's protection against hit-and-run drivers was conditioned on physical contact of the vehicles involved. Lambert at 919. (emphasis added)

In the late 1950's state legislatures began closing these "gaps". Insurance carriers were required to provide coverage for victims of automobile accidents who had valid claims but were unable to collect from the offending motorist. The coverage was no longer optional and the first gap was undisputably closed. However, in 1973, Alabama's Supreme Court had to decide whether the second "gap"--recovery in "hit-and-run" situations contingent on physical contact between the vehicles involved--had also been closed by the mandatory uninsured motorist legislation. Recognizing that the question could not be answered "apart from the historical context within which the statute

was passed," Lambert at 918, the court carefully explained its decision;

In light of this historical perspective, and working within the traditional fault concept, the legislature passed the Uninsured Motorist Statute. By requiring each policy to include such coverage--absent an express disavowal on the part of the insured--the gap represented by the first deficiency was further narrowed. It is equally clear that the statute in providing "for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles" speaks directly to the second deficiency--the unknown or hit-and-run as well as the known financially irresponsible driver.

To hold that the legislative intent had the restrictive effect of speaking only to the first of the two above-referred to deficiencies is to dispute that the purpose of the statute is to protect persons who are injured through the fault of other motorists who in turn are not insured and cannot make whole the injured party. The design of the statute is to protect injured persons who can prove that the accident did in fact occur and that he was injured as a proximate result of the negligence of such other motorist who cannot respond in damages for such injuries.
Lambert at 919.

After reiterating that contract provisions which were more restrictive than were the statutory provisions were not valid, the court answered the physical contact question directly;

We hold, therefore, that the "physical contact" requirement in the "hit-and-run" provision of the automobile liability insurance policies here under consideration is in derogation of the Alabama Uninsured Motorist Statute and is void as against public policy.
Lambert at 920. See also, Montoya v. Dairyland Insurance Company, 394 F.Supp. 1337 (Dist.Ct. N.M. 1975)(the physical contact requirement was in derogation of the remedial nature of the statute and the legislative intent not to allow the creation of a gap in the coverage.)

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