1986

Lisa Marakis v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PRESENT APPEAL IS MOOT

In the court below, Judge Bunnell was asked to determine the legislature's intent in using the phrase "hit-and-run"

in Section 41-12-21.1, Utah Code Annotated, (Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute). At the time of Judge Bunnell's decision, the legislature had not defined the scope or breadth of that term. However, the 1986 legislature specifically addressed the physical contact rule. In so doing, the legislature clarified their legislative intent in enacting the Uninsured Motorist Statute, and adopted as the public policy of the State of Utah a rule consistent with the one applied by Judge Bunnell in the present case. The new statutory language provides:

When a covered person claims an uninsured motor vehicle under subsection (2)(b) (an unidentified motor vehicle which left the scene of an accident proximately caused by its operator) proximately caused an accident without touching the covered person or the vehicle occupied by the covered person, then the covered person shall show the existence of the other motor vehicle by clear and convincing evidence, which shall consist of more than the covered person's testimony. (Precise citation still uncertain. The above-quoted statutory language contained a working citation of 31A-22-305(5). A copy of the language as contained in Senate Bill 91 is included in respondent's brief and attached as Appendix A.)

The above-quoted statutory language is entirely consistent with Judge Bunnell's ruling in the present case. The legislature has now adopted as the public policy of the State of Utah a moderate position which balances the competing interests which are reflected in the opinions of the various states which have reviewed the physical contact requirement. The Utah statute permits recovery by an insured only where the

existence of the phantom vehicle is established by clear and convincing proof, which must consist of more than the covered person's testimony. However, the legislature had also recognized the possibility of fraud and collusion, as well as the difficulties inherent in defending actions arising out of automobile accidents involving non-contact "phantom vehicles", and of thus excluded mandatory coverage for such accidents in those instances where the existence of the phantom vehicle cannot be established by more than the covered person's testimony.

In the present case, the trial court specifically entered a finding of fact concerning this issue of proof. The court stated in paragraph 3 of the Findings of Fact:

That the only person known to plaintiff who witnessed the motor vehicle accident is the plaintiff herself. (Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant's Interrogatories, R. 25-26).

Furthermore, plaintiff-appellant was asked the following question in interrogatories:

15. Q: Please list the name, address and telephone number of each and every individual which plaintiff may or will call as a witness at the trial of this matter.

The plaintiff/appellant responded:

ANSWER: Presently, plaintiff plans to call the following people as witnesses. Names of others will be provided as they are determined:

1) Lisa Marakis, as to the facts of the accident, injuries, damages;

2) Dr. Kim Christensen, East Carbon Medical Clinic, East Carbon, UT 84520, as to injuries and damages;

3) Harold Jay Fowler, 108 8th West (Box 318) East Carbon, UT 84520, as to policy of insurance and damages and injuries;

4) Mary Fowler, 108 8th West (Box 318) East Carbon, UT 84520, as to policy of insurance and damages and injuries. (Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant's Interrogatories, R. 25-26).

As the responses to interrogatories indicate, the only person capable of testifying as to the existence of the non-contact vehicle is the plaintiff herself. The legislature has clarified the public policy underlying the Uninsured Motorist Statute in specifying that such proof will not be sufficient to establish a right to collect pursuant to a policy of insurance issued to satisfy the requirements of Utah's Uninsured Motorist Statute.

In this regard, it is interesting to note the candid observation of appellant in her brief on appeal. On page 8 of appellant's brief, she sets forth the various type of uninsured motorist statutes enacted by the several states. Appellant states therein:

The fourth, and most progressive, category consists of four states which allow the physical contact requirement to be waived if competent evidence exists to corroborate the claimant's account of the accident. (Appellant's Brief on Appeal, page 8).

State Farm does not dispute the extension of coverage to non-contact accidents where the existence of the fleeing vehicle can be sufficiently established. The physical contact requirement has been adopted not only by insurance companies in language contained in insurance contracts, but also by the legislatures or courts of the majority of states that have addressed the issue. However, the rationale behind the requirement must be examined. The purpose for requiring physical contact is not to provide an arbitrary gap in insurance coverage. Rather, it is to effectuate the public policy of stabilizing the rising costs of automobile insurance by preventing fraudulent claims as well as barring those actions which are nearly impossible to defend due to the lack of physical evidence found at the scene of the accident. However, where the existence of the phantom vehicle can be conclusively determined by evidence consisting of more than the testimony of the insured themselves, the rationale ceases to exist and coverage should be afforded.

To this extent, State Farm would agree with Marakis that a more progressive rule is emerging in the various states. While the original cases to be decided on this issue were polarized in terms of upholding the requirement or striking it down, the new moderate rule would preclude recovery in cases like the present one, but would permit claims where there is no serious question as to the presence of the non-contact accident.

In the present case, the trial court was faced with a difficult task of discerning legislative intent where the

legislature was silent as to the definition of "hit-and-run" motor vehicles. The legislature has now clarified its position and adopted a public policy consistent with the trial court's decision in the present case. The new legislative directive serves to clarify this ambiguity in a way which serves the purposes of the general public in stabilizing the rising costs of automobile insurance, while at the same time permitting recovery in those circumstances which justify it. The legislature having now spoken, and the trial court's ruling being consistent therewith, respondent would respectfully submit that the issue is now moot.

POINT II

THE PHYSICAL CONTACT REQUIREMENT CONTAINED
IN THE POLICY OF INSURANCE DOES NOT VIOLATE
PUBLIC POLICY, AND SHOULD BE ENFORCED
ACCORDING TO ITS TERMS.

While respondent maintains that the recent clarification by the Utah State Legislature has rendered the present appeal moot, the construction urged by appellant would be erroneous, even in the absence of the legislative directive.

Initially, it must be remembered that a policy of insurance constitutes a contract, which should be enforced according to its terms unless it violates state law, principles of equity, or public policy. This rule of construction was articulated by the Utah Supreme Court in a previous case concerning the Uninsured Motorist Statute, Martin v. Christensen, 454 P.2d 294 (1969). There the court stated :

There appears to be no ambiguity or uncertainty in the provision just quoted. (prohibition against stacking of uninsured motorist policies) It being thus set forth as part of the insurance contract, in clear and understandable terms . . . it is the duty of the courts to give it effect. This is true unless considerations of equity and justice, or of public policy, dictate that the contract should not be enforced because of fraud, duress, mistake, unconscionability, illegality or some other some cogent reason. (Martin v. Christensen, supra., at p. 295).

Under the standard of review enunciated in Martin v. Christensen, supra., the threshold question which must be addressed is whether or not the policy exclusion is stated clearly and unambiguously. This issue was apparently conceded by appellant in the court below. The contract language clearly requires a "hit-and-run" motor vehicle to "strike" the insured or the vehicle the insured is occupying as a condition precedent to respondent's duty to perform under the Uninsured Motorist Provision of the contract.

Appellant contends that the term "hit-and-run" as used in the Uninsured Motorist Statute is ambiguous to the extent that it does not define whether physical contact must occur to constitute a "hitting". However, while the legislature failed to define the term until the 1986 session, the term has been defined in the contract of insurance to require a "striking". No argument is issued by appellant that the definition in the contract is ambiguous. Rather, they urge that the ambiguity in the statute should be resolved in their favor and that this

court should therefore hold that the policy fails to meet the statutory directive. While the legislative intent is no longer ambiguous, State Farm maintains that the construction urged by appellant would be erroneous even in the absence of the legislative directive.

Initially, State Farm would invite the court to examine the logic of appellant's argument. Marakis maintains that Utah law concerning vehicles leaving the scene of an accident, imposes criminal responsibility without the requirement of physical contact. Marakis therefore maintains that this court should construe the Uninsured Motorist Statute to apply in the same situations which would impose criminal liability.

Respondent respectfully maintains that this logic is fallacious. An examination of the criminal statute cited by Marakis indicates that the legislature knew how to select appropriate terms in imposing legal duties based upon automobile accidents which did not involve physical contact. However, in the case of the Uninsured Motorist Statute, the legislature did not refer to Section 41-6-29, nor did the legislature use the term "involved in an accident", as they did in the criminal statute. Rather, they used the term "hit-and-run".

Respondent would respectfully maintain that the fact that the legislature selected different terms indicates that the legislature intended the two status to apply to different

situations. To this extent, it is of course important to note that the term "hit" as used in the statute carries with it an obvious implication of physical contact. The Wisconsin Supreme Court articulated this position in the case of Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., 339 N.W.2d 588 (1983). There the court stated:

When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, we must arrive at the legislature's intention by according the language its ordinary and accepted meaning. (citation omitted) In addition, we will not resort to extrinsic aids, such as legislative history, to construe the statute when the statute is clear on its face. (citation omitted)

We conclude that the statutory language of sec. 632.32(4)(a)2b. Stats., is unambiguous. We therefore arrive at the legislature's intent by according the language its common and accepted meaning. (citation omitted) As previously noted, the common and accepted meaning of the term 'hit-and-run' includes an element of physical contact. (Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., supra., pp. 590-591).

The Wisconsin court went on to state:

Hayne (plaintiff) nevertheless argues that the term 'hit-and-run' . . . is not synonymous with physical contact. He cites two dictionary definitions and a decision from another jurisdiction to support his assertion that hit-and-run simply means an automobile involved in an accident, after which the driver flees the accident scene.

We find his argument unpersuasive. The dictionary definitions we previously cited uniformly indicate that 'hit-and-run' includes two elements: a 'hit' or striking,

and a 'run', or fleeing from the accident scene. (Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., supra., p. 591).

The Wisconsin court further indicated that ignoring the term "hit" would violate traditional principles of statutory construction. The court stated at page 591:

Statutes must be construed, if possible, so that no word or clause is rendered surplusage. (citation omitted) If the legislature had intended its mandated uninsured motorist coverage to apply to any accident involving an unidentified motorist, as Hayne asserts, that result could have been reached merely by deleting the term 'hit-and-run' from the language in (the statute), and having that provision read: 'an unidentified motor vehicle involved in an accident'. (Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., supra., p. 591).

The Utah legislature has now done exactly what the Wisconsin court suggested. They have specifically defined limited class of cases which may be pursued where physical contact is absent. However, in interpreting the prior statute, the persuasive logic of the Wisconsin court remains clear. It should not be assumed that the Utah legislature used the term "hit" when they meant something else. The more persuasive argument is that if they had intended uninsured motorist coverage to apply in situations where no physical contact existed, they could have used terms such as that in the new legislative amendment, the criminal statutes cited by appellant, or the language referred to by the Wisconsin court.

Finally, the court in Hayne, supra., takes appellant's argument one step further. Not only must we assume that the legislature was aware of the language used in other statutes (and that such language could be used in the present statutes), but we may also assume that the legislature is aware of a standard policy exclusion which is contained in nearly every policy of uninsured motorist insurance. The Hayne, supra., court continued at page 595:

It is reasonable to assume that if the legislature was aware of the standard policy provision defining uninsured motor vehicle to include one involved in a 'hit-and-run' accident, it was also aware of the standard policy provision defining 'hit-and-run' to include a physical contact requirement. (Hayne v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., supra., p. 595).

The Utah legislature's recent amendment clearly demonstrates that they are aware of the physical contact requirement, and believe that the requirement is proper except where the purpose of the requirement disappears.

Finally, Marakis maintains that the exclusion is void as against public policy. Once again, respondent would maintain that the elected representatives of the Utah citizenry have articulated Utah's public policy on this issue and the recent amendment to the statute. Furthermore, the traditional meaning of the term "hit-and-run" as used in the Uninsured Motorist Statute would indicate that the legislature previously adopted the physical contact rule as Utah's public policy. No argument

has been stated that the legislature's directives in this regard are constitutionally repugnant. State Farm would respectfully maintain that the legislature having balanced the considerations inherent in the question, and having articulated a physical contact requirement, that the court should give effect to the language.

However, State Farm would also address Marakis' characterization of the "majority rule" of our sister states on this issue. Appellant has gone to great efforts in an attempt to manufacture a majority. In doing so, Marakis has been forced to divide the statutory schemes of the various states into four categories. The appellant then identifies one category, consisting of nine states, and applies that category to Utah's legislative scheme.

Initially, it must be noted that in light of the clarification provided by the 1986 legislature, Utah no longer fits within the category assigned to it by appellant in her brief. The legislature in clarifying the statutes now places Utah within the fourth category identified by Marakis, in term the "most progressive" in appellant's brief.

However, the manufacturing of a majority by segregation into statutory categories must receive further examination. As State Farm has previously indicated, the requirement is unambiguous in its terms, and is consistent with both the Uninsured Motorist Statute and the recent amendments providing clarification concerning the physical contact requirement. Therefore,

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